1956

Nevada Trailer Finance Company, Inc. and Idaho Trailer Finance Company, Inc. v. State Tax Commission of The State of Utah : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The corporations, Nevada Trailer Finance Company and Idaho Trailer Finance Company, the first incorporated in the State of Nevada and the other in the State of Idaho, were engaged in the business of purchasing conditional sales contract and notes

from dealers in the respective states in which they are incorporated. The obligors on the conditional sales contracts and notes in each case are residents respectively of the states of Nevada and Idaho. In no case are the obligors on the notes residents of Utah. The dealers who sold the trailers which are given as security for the conditional sales notes and contracts are dealers respectively in the states of Nevada and Idaho. The notes and contracts are assigned to these two foreign corporations in Nevada and Idaho and are accepted by the foreign corporations through their agents in those states. Neither of these corporations are qualified to do business in the State of Utah; neither corporation has used the Courts of the State of Utah to enforce collection of the contracts and notes; none of the property which stands as security for the payment of the contracts or notes is located in the State of Utah.

When the Nevada corporation was originally organized, a bank account was maintained in Las Vegas for the Nevada corporation, but because of inadequate accounting by the bank and because the bank did not extend a full line of credit, a bank account was opened in Salt Lake City, Utah and thereafter banking for both corporations was handled through Salt Lake City banks. The stock in the foreign corporations was owned principally by a Utah corporation and minority holdings in the cor-

poration were held by Utah residents. The directors of these two foreign corporations are Utah residents and some meetings of the Board of Directors were held in Nevada.

The Trailer Dealers who took these notes, representing the purchase price of the trailers sold by them in the foreign states, obtained all of the credit information on the purchasers of the trailers and cleared the contracts without any assistance from any representative of either of these corporations living in Utah. These dealers had the full power to accept the contract and to complete all transactions, which they did in every case. When the contracts were completed the agents of each of these corporations out of the State of Utah completed the purchase of these contracts from the Trailer Dealers. These agents of the foreign corporation, both in Nevada and Idaho were paid by each of the corporations, but not in money; they were paid by services that each of the corporations rendered to each of these respective dealers.

After the purchase of these contracts was completed by the foreign corporations in each of the foreign states and the foreign corporations acquired title to the contracts and were entitled to receive the payments, in many instances payments were received and collections were made by agents of each of these foreign corporations in Nevada and Idaho.

It is true, that some payments on contracts and notes were sent by mail to Salt Lake City by these out-of-state obligors. In no case do the obligors come into the State of Utah and make payments in the State of Utah.

As a matter of convenience, after the purchase was completed, the contracts were sent by mail to Utah where the collection of payments due under the contracts and the keeping of records was supervised. The record keeping itself, was handled by an independent agency. This record keeping is handled by an entity assisting in making the collection on the accounts. (R.90). That entity was paid for rendering these services as follows: (R. Page 2)

	1951	1952
Idaho Trailer		
Finance Company	\$1200.00	\$1200.00
Nevada Trailer		
Finance Company	\$3600.00	\$3930.00

The entity which received that income in the State of Utah, paid taxes on that income in the State of Utah.

The company has no paid employees at all (R. 104) though it is true, that the President of the company, who resides in Utah, received a salary, but he states that a great part of his duties on behalf of these corporations required his attendance in the States of Nevada and Idaho. Aside from the

collection effort made by the independent agency, which was paid the administrative expenses, as just related, payments on the contracts are made at the Office of the Las Vegas Trailer Sales Company in Las Vegas, Nevada and at a bank in Las Vegas, Nevada, which accepts payments and deposits them to the account of the Nevada Trailer Finance Company and charges 50¢ a payment for doing so. (R 106)

When the contracts are purchased, the company selling the contracts is paid, in every instance, either by a check from the Nevada Trailer Finance Company, sent from Utah by mail or if the contract is delivered to the bank in Nevada, by a transfer of funds between the bank accounts of the Nevada Trailer Finance Company and the party from whom the contract was purchased. (R 107)

Neither of these corporations has any tangible property in the State of Utah. These corporations hold title to the trailers which are physically located either in the State of Nevada or in the State of Idaho. The documents evidencing the title to these trailers located outside the State of Utah are kept in the State of Utah.

The income of the corporation in each case comes from the business of purchasing trailer contracts. "The business of the Nevada Trailer Finance Company is that of purchasing trailer con-

tracts, house trailer contracts—is what we make our money from. It is buying these contracts. They are all bought in Nevada. They are not all bought from Las Vegas Trailer Sales. A few have been bought from other places.

“And on these few that were bought from other places, Mr. Baldwin (the man who collects payments on the contracts in Nevada) made all arrangements and made the acceptance of those contracts, as well as the ones that he did for himself.” (R 111)

The consideration paid to this agent in the State of Nevada, is the agreement on the part of the Nevada Corporation to purchase the time contracts which the trailer sales company receives in payment of the trailer which it sells. That is a valuable consideration and explains why the foreign corporation is not obliged to pay salaries or wages. “Without a source of financing they probably couldn’t do two per cent of the business that they are now doing, and a source of financing has been very hard to get in Las Vegas. Up until recently the banks have refused to handle any kind of trailer financing, and there have been no trailer finance companies or no finance company that would accept them.

“That is the reason that Mr. Baldwin, working on his arrangements with me, is very willing to do all this work that he is doing without any charge. That is, he is willing to accept all the contracts, he

pays all the expenses himself and does all the checking of the contracts. He checks the people's credit, he checks the trailers and he does the entire acceptance of the contracts and he is willing to do that without charge with the understanding that I will accept the contracts that he wants. It makes it good for his business to be able to have a finance arrangement. If he didn't have a finance arrangement he couldn't have a business down there." (R 111-112)

In the event there are repossessions of trailers to be made in the State of Nevada or in the State of Idaho, that work is done by the respective dealers in each of those states. When asked who made the repossessions, the witness stated: "Mr. Baldwin has made most of them. It could be that Anthis Recovery may or may not—one of the two. But substantially, in effect, Mr. Baldwin has made practically all of them." Mr. Baldwin also keeps a record of all the contracts in the State of Nevada and he enters the payments and watches to see whether the payments are made on certain of the contracts. (R 113) A duplicate set of records was also kept in Utah. (R 123) An employee of the company which performed the administrative duties for these foreign corporations in Utah gave her testimony that, "the majority of the customers who bought trailers remaining in Nevada made their payments to Mr. Baldwin at the trailer sales lot. We did not get pay-

ments directly from the customers. Usually that was when they had left Nevada". (R 123)

Even though delinquency notices to the contract holders was sent out from the Salt Lake Office, the particular dealer who sold the trailer was notified in each case that there was a delinquency. (R 127) And in the event that the trailer purchaser did not make his payment after two letters were sent, then the procedure was as follows, according to this witness: (R 127) "usually we would ask the dealer to make a collection to take care of it. If it was impossible for him to handle it, then we would go through the credit bureau and through the collection agencies to make a collection" but in no instance was that work done through the Salt Lake Credit Bureau. The clerk who did this work was asked, "what proportion of your work, your working hours, was spent on posting these accounts and doing the work you have related in connection with the Nevada Trailer Finance and Idaho Trailer Finance in comparison to the work you did otherwise? Can you estimate that?" and the witness replied, "It was very small. I had an 8 hour day and I would say if I spent—20 minutes a day would be more than enough to handle those companies." (R 129)

ARGUMENT

POINT 1.

THESE FOREIGN CORPORATIONS PAID NO CORPORATION FRANCHISE TAXES TO THE STATE

BECAUSE ALL OF THEIR TRANSACTIONS CONSISTED OF BUSINESS DONE OUTSIDE THE STATE OF UTAH AND APPELLANTS CONTEND THAT THEY DID NOT DO ANY BUSINESS IN UTAH WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE CORPORATION FRANCHISE TAX ACT.

FROM THE FOREGOING FACTS, IT IS APPARENT THAT ALL OF THE BUSINESS OF THESE TWO CORPORATIONS WAS DONE OUTSIDE OF THE STATE OF UTAH.

Neither of these two companies has qualified under the laws of the State of Utah to do business in Utah. The Appellants contend that all of its business is done outside of the State of Utah. Their business is buying conditional sales contracts and incidental thereto the collection of the payments due thereon. As the facts show, it is the business of buying the contracts that produces the income, because the contracts are purchased at a discount. The Nevada Corporation purchases the contracts in Nevada and the Idaho Corporation purchases the contracts in Idaho. Clearly, if the entire business of these two corporations consisted of the purchasing of the contracts, then neither is doing business in Utah.

If after purchasing these contracts the appellant had sent them into Utah to be placed with a bank to collect the installments, these corporations would not have been subject to the burden of the Utah Franchise Tax Act. The fact is, that when the

contracts are sent into Utah, they are sent to the President of these foreign corporations, who takes custody of them, but the work of the collection of the contracts is done by the independent entity who receives a lump sum payment annually for that administrative service. That entity is one of the firms which occupy the storeroom at 76 East 2nd South, Salt Lake City, Utah, where the President of the company happens to have his office. He maintained that Office for 25 years prior to the organization of either of these corporations.

It is clear that the Nevada Corporation is doing business in Nevada and the Idaho Corporation is doing business in Idaho. The Idaho corporation pays a franchise tax in Idaho and reports 100% of its income subject to an 8% Idaho tax, so this is not a case of where a corporation is pretending to be doing business in another state so as to avoid the payment of any income tax. Appellants sole business of buying contracts was carried on in other states and that which the appellants do in Utah is nominal and is incidental to and a part of the business which each does outside the State of Utah.

If we applied the test of prior decisions of this Court to these facts, the Appellants were correct in not filing Utah Franchise Tax Returns and the assessments by the Tax Commission are in error.

The case of American Investment Corporation

v. State Tax Commission, 120 Pacific 2d, 331, is important because of its approval and citation of cases in other jurisdiction similar to our instant case. In this case a Nevada Corporation was qualified and authorized to do business in Utah:

“Most of its stock was owned, and it was dominated and controlled by men residing at Ogden, Utah. During 1937 the books of the plaintiff company were kept in Ogden; directors meetings were held there, its bank account was kept there, and such disbursements as it had were made at Ogden, Utah.”

The holding of our Court is that Utah had no right to tax the income from the foreign corporations investments. In reaching this conclusion the Court held:

“Where foreign corporation had no property in the state other than bonds and note deposited with trust company as trustee and balance on bank account, and confined its operations in the state to collection and distribution to its stockholders of income from stock and obligations of other foreign corporations, it was not required to pay license fee under Tax Law, 181, or franchise tax under section 182, since its activities in the state were confined to management of internal affairs as distinguished from maintenance of organization for profit and gain, and could as effectively been done in other state, for which reason it did not do 'business in this state', or 'employ capital in this state' within the Tax Law. People ex rel. Manila Electric

R. & Lighting Corporation 1. Knapp, 229 N. Y. 502, 128 N. E. 892, 894. "5 Words and Phrases, Perm., Page 1035."

Of more importance is the Court's following quotation from the case of United States Glue Company v. Town of Oak Creek, *supra* 161 Wisconsin 211, 153 N.W. 244:

"The income derived from goods which were produced and purchased outside of the state and shipped, either directly or by way of plaintiff's factory at Carrollville, to plaintiff's branch houses, and thence sold and delivered to customers without the state, is clearly a separable class of plaintiff's business. *Such business is transacted and located without the state, excepting incidental management from and accounting for the result thereof to plaintiff's principal office at Carrollville.* The carrying on of this part of the trade according to the findings of fact produced an income, which issued out of the business and property located without the state. Under the facts and circumstances showing the manner of conducting this part of the plaintiff's business, it must be held that the income derived therefrom is attributable to the business conducted without the state, and hence not taxable under the law. (*Italics added by Court.*)

The analogy between the fact of the case cited with approval by our Supreme Court and the instant case is readily apparent. The contracts and notes involved business done outside the State of Utah. The approval and purchase thereof was consum-

mated outside of the State of Utah. The only activities in the State of Utah were "incidental management from and accounting for the result" of the out of state business.

Mr. Justice Wolfe in the case of J. M. and M. S. Browning Company v. State Tax Commission of Utah, 154 Pacific 2d 993, 107 Utah 382, established a new rule for determining whether business is done in Utah or in a foreign state. This rule is as follows:

"Further the rule while being one of exclusion and inclusion according to the particular facts involved, must be uniform in its application. The same conduct should be held to constitute the doing of business whether that conduct were done in Utah or done in another state. If upon certain conduct it would be held that a corporation was doing business in Utah so as to subject it to the corporate franchise tax, the same conduct in another state would constitute doing business in said other state and income derived therefrom would not be allocated to Utah. The test as to whether a corporation is doing business in states other than Utah under particular fact situations would therefore be: Would such conduct if carried on in Utah be held to constitute doing business so as to subject the corporation to the Utah Corporate Franchise Tax."

Let us apply this rule to facts of instant case in reverse. A Utah corporation purchases contracts and notes from dealers in Utah. The obligors are Utah

residents and the security is Utah property, the entire transaction is approved and accepted in Utah. Thereafter the notes and contracts are sent to Las Vegas, Nevada where the obligors are instructed to make payment and where the accounting is done. The Utah corporation pays an administrative fee for the work done for it in Nevada. If such a Utah corporation were to file a corporation franchise tax return and pay the minimum tax claiming that all of its business was done in Nevada, we are certain that the State Tax Commission would assess a deficiency on all income derived from the contracts and notes accepted in Utah and that the franchise tax thereupon assessed would be upheld by the Supreme Court of Utah.

In the Emerald Oil Company v. State Tax Commission, 1 Utah (2d) 379, 267 P. (2) 272 this Court held that no income could be attributed to the business done in Colorado because the only business done there was "activities to protect the petitioners reversion or to determine whether the lessee was abiding by the terms of the lease". To paraphrase this statement, all that these corporations were doing in Utah was, "protecting the corporations' investment and determining whether the contract holders were abiding by the terms of their contracts." In the Emerald Oil case, such activities were held not to constitute the doing of busi-

ness and therefor, the same type of activity in Utah, should not be considered the doing of business in Utah.

POINT 2.

A FOREIGN CORPORATION MUST BE QUALIFIED TO DO BUSINESS IN THE STATE OF UTAH (OR BE DOING AN INTRASTATE BUSINESS IN UTAH) TO BE SUBJECT TO THE CORPORATION FRANCHISE TAX ACT.

The issue is whether the two foreign corporations are subject to the terms of Chapter 13, Title 59, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. The particular paragraph of the chapter which is to be construed is paragraph (5) of 59-13-1, which reads as follows:

“The term ‘doing business’ includes any transaction or transactions in the course of its business by a bank or corporation created under the laws of this State or by a foreign corporation qualified to do or doing intra-state business in this State, and shall include the right to do business through such incorporation or qualification.”

It is the position of the corporations that the State Tax Commission has no authority to demand that tax returns be filed by these two foreign corporations or to levy the tax against them unless the corporations qualify to do business in the state as foreign corporations. Chapter 13 is a franchise and privilege tax levied against corporations which have incorporated in the state or have qualified to

do business in the state and have thereby been granted a franchise or right to operate in the state.

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah in the case of First Security Corporation v. State Tax Commission, 91 Utah 101, (63) Pacific (2d) 1062, established this principle without equivocation in the following language:

“The statute requires only Utah corporation, or corporations qualified to do business in Utah to make returns. The State of Utah has no power or authority to require a Wyoming corporation which has not accepted the constitutional provisions of Utah nor qualified to do business in the State, to make returns under the income tax law.”

The two foreign corporations, on advice of counsel, have not qualified to do business in the State of Utah, because they have no reason to exercise such a franchise or to avail themselves of the privilege of doing business in the State of Utah.

But if the two foreign corporations are unlawfully doing business in the State of Utah, are they subject to the corporation franchise act of the State of Utah? Again, our Supreme Court, in the case of American Investment Corporation v. State Tax Commission, 101 Utah 189; 120 Pacific 2d 331, was held that no tax should be collected:

“This is a franchise tax, a tax on the right or privilege of doing business in the

state. What business? Why, lawful business; business it may do without violating the law; the business it may do under the franchise for which it pays the tax. The state cannot collect a franchise tax unless it gives a franchise therefore. And it cannot be said that the state intended to collect franchise taxes for the right to do business unlawfully."

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