1956

Nevada Trailer Finance Company, Inc. and Idaho Trailer Finance Company, Inc. v. State Tax Commission of The State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Statement of Facts as set forth in Appellant's Brief appear to us to be over-simplified and in some respects incomplete. We desire, therefore, to restate the facts with some elaboration of certain facts which we deem highly pertinent to this case.

The Idaho Trailer Finance Company was incorporated in the State of Idaho in the year 1951. The Nevada Trailer Finance Company was incorporated in the State of Nevada in the year 1951. The object and purpose of both finance companies was and is to purchase conditional sales contracts from the sellers of house trailers with sales agencies in the states of Idaho and Nevada. After purchasing the contracts, the finance companies held most of them, collected the principal and interest due thereon from the obligors and ultimately realized a profit. The same facts apply generally to both companies with the exception that the Idaho company purchased contracts from Idaho house trailer dealers and the Nevada company purchased its contracts from Nevada house trailer dealers. The only other difference appears to be that in the case of the Nevada company, a bank account was maintained in its name in a Las Vegas bank during part of the period involved herein. All of the banking for the Idaho company appears to have been transacted through a Salt Lake City bank.

The conditional sales contracts purchased by the finance companies are represented by Tax Commission Exhibits Nos. 1 and 2. (Tr. 46) These contracts were executed by the purchasers of the trailers and the sellers of the trailers located outside of the state of Utah. Later, the seller of the trailer assigned his contracts to the finance company and forwarded them to the office of the company which is located at 76 East Second South, Salt Lake City, Utah. (Tr. 48) Here the contracts were inspected by Mr. Max Siegel, Manager of the companies,

who thereupon issued a check to the seller of the trailer in payment for the contract. (Tr. 69-70)

The Commission does not concur with Appellants in their contention that the acceptance by the finance companies of the assigned contracts takes place outside the State of Utah. Under the facts of this case, in order for the finance companies to accept these contracts outside the state of Utah, the seller of the trailer, whom taxpayers claim as their agent, would first have to execute the contract as the trailer sales agency with the purchaser of the trailer, then assign the contract to the finance companies, then accept the assignment on behalf of the finance companies and then mail it to the finance companies in Salt Lake City. Mr. Siegel's statements, although somewhat contradictory, indicate that there is an acceptance of the contracts when received in finance offices, inspected by him, and a check issued in payment thereof in Salt Lake City, Utah. (Tr. 25, 38, and 69)

As previously stated, the original copies of the conditional sales contracts are sent to the companies' offices in Salt Lake City. (Tr. 78) Account cards on all contracts are made up by the office help in said office and thereafter the original contracts are retained in a safe deposit box in a Salt Lake City bank. (Tr. 48 and 69) Monthly installment payments are sent to the company offices in Salt Lake. (Tr. 49 and 50) Some payments are received at the office of the trailer selling agencies or a bank in Las Vegas. In either case, the money and record of payment is forwarded to the companies' offices

in Salt Lake City where the posting to the account cards is made. (Tr. 50) Sizeable bank accounts are maintained by both companies in Salt Lake City banks, to which sizeable deposits are made almost daily and upon which checks are drawn by the companies almost daily. (T.C. Ex. 3 and 4) The muniments of title on the trailers are retained by the companies in Utah as security until the contract is paid out. (Tr. 72) Correspondence to contract obligors is sent from the Salt Lake City office of the corporations. (Tr. 50) The relationship of the corporations to Utah and the other activities of these corporations in Utah includes such things as:

1. The directors, officers and manager of the corporations are Utah residents and maintain offices in Utah. (Tr. 13)
2. Directors' meetings are held in Utah. (Tr. 13)
3. Some contracts are discounted in Utah by the corporations to Utah banks. (Tr. 35)
4. The corporations borrow money in Utah. (Tr. 65)
5. The corporations retain legal counsel and auditors in Utah for auditing corporation books and acting in advisory capacity to the corporations' management. (Tr. 76)
6. The corporation books are maintained and kept in Utah. (Tr. 77) (T.C. Ex. 5)
7. For the privilege of having their offices at 76 East Second South, Salt Lake City, Utah, the corporations paid a prorated share of the office expense which included such items as office help, rent, telephone and other miscellaneous expense. (Tr. 62 and 63) The deductions taken by the cor-

porations for their expense incurred almost entirely in the state of Utah are as follows:

	1951	1952
Idaho Trailer		
Finance Company	\$1,200.00	\$1,200.00
Nevada Trailer		
Finance Company	\$3,600.00	\$3,930.00

8. In addition, a single salary was paid by the corporations during 1951 and 1952. This salary was for the sum of \$5,000 which was paid by the Idaho Trailer Finance Company to Mr. Max Siegel, Manager of the corporations with offices in Salt Lake City, Utah. (Tr. 65)

It should be noted that neither of these corporations maintain offices outside Utah. Neither of the corporations have employees outside the State of Utah and neither of the corporations own real or tangible personal property situated outside the state of Utah. (Tr. 30) Mr. Siegel stated in the record that some directors' meetings had been held in Las Vegas, that he made occasional trips to Idaho and Nevada, and that some payments by the obligors on the contracts had been received at the trailer sales office in Nevada or in a Nevada bank or at the office of the Shady Lane Trailer Sales in Idaho.

Under these facts the Commission has found that the Idaho Trailer Finance Company and the Nevada Trailer Finance Company were doing business in the state of Utah during the taxable years 1951 and 1952, and based upon such facts a deficiency for Utah corporation franchise and privilege tax was assessed against said corporations in accordance with the statutes and regulations of this state.

POINT I.

THE FOREIGN CORPORATIONS HEREIN ARE CORPORATIONS ENGAGED IN AN INVESTMENT TYPE BUSINESS CONSISTING OF THE PURCHASING OF CONDITIONAL SALES CONTRACTS AND SAID CORPORATIONS WERE DOING BUSINESS IN THE STATE OF UTAH DURING 1951 AND 1952 IN CONTEMPLATION OF THE UTAH CORPORATION FRANCHISE TAX LAW.

Section 59-13-3, Utah Code Annotated 1953, (formerly 80-13-3 U.C.A. 1943) provides:

“Every bank or corporation . . . for the privilege of exercising its corporate franchise or for the privilege of doing business in the state shall annually pay to the state a tax . . .”

The term “doing business” has been defined in our law and “includes any transaction or transactions in the course of its business by a foreign corporation qualified to do or doing intrastate business in this state.” Section 59-13-1 (5) Utah Code Annotated 1953 (formerly Sec. 80-13-1 (5) U.C.A. 1943).

The above statutes give to the state of Utah the necessary authority to assess a franchise tax provided that a taxable incident exists in the state, which would constitute the doing of business in the state by the corporation.

The definition of what constitutes doing business varies depending upon the context in which it is used. In this instance we are dealing with corporations engaged

in an investment type business. Little can be gained from a discussion of cases relating to a different set of facts from those presented here. On the question of what acts by a corporation constitute doing business our state laws and regulations provide:

Regulation No. 8, Utah Corporation Franchise
Tax Regulations
April 15, 1945.

“To determine the portion of net income assignable to business done in the State of Utah, for the purpose of fixing the corporation franchise tax payable by corporations doing business in the state of Utah, it is necessary, according to the provisions of Section 80-13-21, U.C.A. 1943 to allocate directly certain income. Subsections (1) and (3) of this section read as follows:

““(1) Rents, interest and dividends derived from business done outside this state less related expenses shall not be allocated to this state.’

““(3) Rents, interest and dividends derived from business done in this state less related expenses shall be allocated to this state.’

“These two subsections allocate directly to Utah all rental, interest or dividend income derived from business done in the State of Utah by the taxpaying corporation.

“Where a corporation’s business consists in investing money in rental properties, loans or securities, and in receiving income from such investments, the business which gives rise to this income is considered to be done in the state where the investment activities take place. Thus, where a corporation received income from rental properties, or from security investments, the business

giving rise to this income is considered to be done in the state where the corporation maintains its chief place of business, holds its directors' meetings, maintains its bank account, keeps its books and muniments of title, pays its salaries, collects its rents, and carries out all other activities incident to its investment business. If these activities are distributed throughout several states, then the business is considered to be done in the state where the most important activities take place.

“Where a corporation (foreign or domestic) has its chief place of business in Utah, there is a strong presumption that all rental, interest or dividend income derived from its business activities is allocable directly to Utah. This presumption can only be rebutted by the taxpayer's making a positive showing that a substantial portion of the business factors discussed above were physically located outside the State of Utah. If, after applying the above tests, it cannot be ascertained that rents, interest and dividends are derived from business done in any particular state, it will be presumed that such income is derived from business done in the state of incorporation.”

The case of *American Investment Corporation vs. State Tax Commission, et al.*, 101 Ut. 191, 120 P. 2d 331 (1941), was one of our Supreme Court's first pronouncements on the question of allocating investment type income under our Franchise Tax Act. In that case the court looked to the place where the corporation paying the dividend did business as being the place where the income from such intangibles should be allocated, rather than looking to the place where the taxpaying corporation carried on its investment activities. Follow-

ing this case our Supreme Court in *J. M. & M. S. Browning Co., et al. vs. State Tax Commission*, 107 Ut. 457, 153 P. 2d 993 (1945) reconsidered its previous ruling in the American Investment case and expressly overruled it. In the Browning opinion the court stated that unless it were made to appear that the petitioner was also conducting an investment business (doing business) in another state, all of its net income from its investment business done would be correctly allocated to Utah. The court in that case noted that the corporation maintained no offices in connection with its investment business other than its offices in Utah. All the activities in connection with investments were managed from that office and its accounts were kept there.

In this connection the activities of the Idaho Trailer Finance Co. and the Nevada Trailer Finance Co. in Utah afford an equally persuasive set of facts to support the finding that the corporations were doing business in Utah in 1951 and 1952. To begin with, neither of the corporations maintained offices or hired any employees outside the state of Utah. The most that can be said for their activities outside Utah is that they maintained a bank account in a Las Vegas bank during part of the period involved herein, and that Mr. Siegel made occasional trips to confer with the trailer dealers in the other states. There is also Mr. Siegel's statement that some directors' meetings had been held in Las Vegas. On the other hand, the activities of the corporations in Utah consisted of acts ordinarily performed by investment companies doing business in Utah. These include

such activities as maintaining offices in Utah, having its management permanently located and residing in Utah, keeping the books for the corporation in Utah; maintaining bank accounts in Utah; holding directors' meetings in Utah; retaining original copies of contracts in Salt Lake City office and banks; retaining in Utah titles to trailers as security; receiving contract payments in Utah; discounting contracts with Utah banks; accepting assignment of contracts; hiring legal services; hiring professional accountants; corresponding with obligors on contracts; borrowing money in Utah and paying a proportionate share of stenographic expense, telephone, rent, etc.

By comparing the activities of the corporations in Utah with the activities of the corporations outside Utah, and keeping in mind that we are dealing with investment type businesses, it is difficult to understand how, by any stretch of the imagination, these corporations are doing business or carrying on their businesses other than in the state of Utah.

The case of *Emerald Oil Company vs. State Tax Commission*, 1 Ut. 2d 379, 267 P. 2d 272 (1954) dealt with a domestic corporation leasing oil lands in Colorado. The Emerald Oil Company held title to the oil lands in Colorado, paid a corporation tax in Colorado, had a process agent there and its officers frequently made trips to the Colorado lands to verify and measure all oil produced and to compare the barrels of oil shipped from the field with barrels of oil received by the refinery; to determine if the lessee was drilling its quota of wells;

to determine location, depth and quality of wells drilled; to determine location of the telephone line route and condition of the warehouse, possible trespassing, and to confer with certain Colorado authorities on tax problems. Nevertheless, the court weighed these activities in Colorado with the activities of the corporation in Utah and concluded that the corporation was doing business in Utah so as to require allocation of its entire net income to Utah for the purpose of computing its franchise tax. In sustaining the Tax Commission's decision in that case our Supreme Court stated:

“At Vernal the following business activities took place: (1) All directors' meetings (normally monthly) were held in the Uintah State Bank. (2) All expenses were paid from the Uintah State Bank. (3) Dividends were distributed from Vernal. (4) The corporation banked in Vernal. (5) The corporate books, muniments of title and the leases with Equity Oil Company were kept in Vernal. (6) Policy discussions were held in Vernal at the regular meetings of the board of directors. (7) All royalty receipts were received at Vernal. (8) Both leases with Equity Oil Company were executed at Vernal. (9) Correspondence, management, and clerical activities connected with the leases were normally conducted in or from Vernal. All of the aforesaid activities have received some recognition as factors to be considered in determining the location of 'business done.' See C.C.H. State Tax Reporter, New York, Book 1, Section 5-109. See also Utah State Tax Commission Corporation Franchise Tax Regulation Number 8 of April 15, 1945. We are of the opinion that the nature and extent of the activities of Emerald Oil Company in Utah, coupled with their

continuity, frequency, and regularity, compared with its activities in Colorado adequately sustain the decision of the State Tax Commission.”

The case of *Commonwealth vs. American Gas Company*, 352 Penn. 113, 42 A. 2d 161, presents a situation similar to this one. In that case the court held that a foreign subsidiary public utilities holding corporation, holding directors’ meetings, keeping its securities in bank deposit vaults, receiving and depositing dividends, renting offices and in general conducting its authorized business in the commonwealth was engaged in doing business therein within the Franchise Tax Act, and that the fact that its business involved dealing in intangibles rather than tangibles does not relieve it from its just share of the tax burden.

It is the Commission’s contention that said cases sustain the position of the Tax Commission and that within the contemplation of the Utah Corporation Franchise Tax Act the Idaho Trailer Finance Company and the Nevada Trailer Finance Company were legally doing business in the state of Utah.

POINT II

THE ACTIVITIES OF THESE CORPORATIONS OUTSIDE THE STATE OF UTAH ARE COMPARABLE TO THE ACTIVITIES IN UTAH OF MANY INVESTMENT CORPORATIONS WHOSE ACTIVITIES IN UTAH DO NOT CONSTITUTE THE DOING OF BUSINESS IN CONTEMPLATION OF THE UTAH CORPORATION FRANCHISE TAX LAW.

Appellants have stated in their brief that if the activities of the corporations in these cases were reversed

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